IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 92-2841
Summary Cal endar

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
VERSUS
JAMES WATSON
and
LARRY JAMES BROVW,

Def endant s- Appel | ant s.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Southern District of Texas
(CR H92 20 1)

Cct ober 1, 1993
Before SM TH, BARKSDALE, and DeMOSS, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM *

Janes WAt son appeal s his conviction of conspiracy to possess
wth intent to distribute in excess of five kilograns of cocaine,
inviolation of 21 U.S.C. 88 841(a)(1) and (b)(1) (A and 846 and of

aiding and abetting the use and carrying of a firearm during the

" Local Rule 47.5.1 provides: "The publication of opinions that have no
precedential value and nerely decide particular cases on the basis of well-
settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess expense on the public and burdens
on the | egal profession.” Pursuant to that rule, the court has deternined
that this opinion should not be published.



comm ssion of a drug trafficking offense, in violation of 18 U S. C
88 2 and 924(c). Larry Brown appeals his conviction on a simlar

conspiracy-to-possess count. Finding no error, we affirm

| .

On or about Decenber 24, 1991, Drug Enforcenent Adm nistration
("DEA") agents learned from a confidential informant that Linus
Brown was advertising by word-of-nouth for a cocai ne supplier. DEA
Speci al agent Deborah Sibila, acting under cover, net with Linus
Brown at a restaurant near the Houston Intercontinental Airport on
Decenber 26, 1991, and Brown told Sibila that his brother worked
for a car deal ership on West Gul f Bank Road and that the car deal er
had | ost his regular source for cocaine. Brown stated that his
brother Larry was handling the cocaine transaction for the car
deal er and that they wanted to buy twenty kil ogranms of cocaine with
$170, 000 cash, a 1991 Cadillac Coupe DeVille, a 1989 BMW 735i, and
one hundred pounds of mari huana.

Brown told Sibila that Larry woul d have to i nspect the cocai ne
before they woul d make t he exchange and that his girlfriend knew a
| ot of people with noney and had twenty years of experience in
| aundering noney. Brown also nentioned that a person called "Tin
Hat" had been in their office that day on the way to Louisiana to
deliver seven kil ograns of cocaine. Brown encouraged Sibila to
call Brown that night, but Sibila declined.

Bet ween Decenber 26 and 28, the DEA determned that the

aut onobi |l e deal ership referred to by Brown was Julius Auto Sal es,



whi ch was owned by Watson.! On Decenber 28, Sibila contacted Larry
Brown at Julius Auto Sal es and expressed interest in selling the
cocaine; Sibila and Brown | ater nade an appoi ntnent to neet.

On Decenber 30, DEA Special Agent Norman and Sibila nmet with
Brown in his private office at Julius Auto Sales to discuss the
anount and price of the cocaine. Brown nentioned that he was not
a "rookie" in the drug trade and that he had been involved in drug
transactions before. The DEA agents offered twenty kil ograns of
cocai ne at $14,000 per kilogram but Brown requested a price of
$16, 000 per kil ogramso that he could "shave" $40, 000 of profit for
hi nsel f. Brown then handed Sibila the keys to the Cadillac and
allowed himto take a test drive. The DEA agents believed that
Wat son was to show up at the neeting, but Brown told themthat he
would neet them later that evening at a restaurant to discuss
details of the transaction.

The DEA agents nmet with Brown and Watson at the restaurant
near the airport; Norman and Watson drove to another |ocation so
that Watson could exam ne a cocai ne sanpl e. Wat son sanpl ed the
cocai ne and approved of its quality. Wtson |ater told Norman that
he was "primarily in the weed business" and had noved nultiple
hundr ed- pound quantities of marihuana; he also stated that his
usual connection had been "taken down."

Sibila remained with Brown in the parking | ot of the restau-

rant. At that time, Brown told Sibila that sonethi ng had happened

! watson is referred to as "Julius" and "James" at different times
during the trial. Watson's presentence report indicates that his full nanme is
Jul i us Janes Wt son.
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to Watson's "reqgular" source of cocaine. Sibila, Brown, and
acconpanyi ng confidential informants went into the restaurant,
wher e Brown expl ai ned net hods of | aundering noney through concert
pronotions and real estate transactions. Norman and Watson
returned to the restaurant, and Nor man asked about the BMANt hat had
been prom sed as part of the deal. Witson then delivered the keys
to the BMWWto Sibila.

The foll ow ng day, a neeting was arranged for the exchange of
twenty kil ograns of cocaine at the sane restaurant. Brown arrived
at the restaurant in the Cadillac and tendered the titles to the
Cadillac and a third vehicle, a 1988 BMW 735i, to the agents.
Brown al so expl ai ned that Watson was on the way to the neeting with
cash and one hundred pounds of mari huana.

Watson did not arrive at the restaurant but called later to
change the neeting place to another restaurant. Watson arrived at
the second restaurant in a pickup truck with another individual in
t he passenger seat. Brown explained that the passenger worked for
Wat son handling mari huana. The passenger was later identified as
a M. Judge HIl. Watson had brought only $40,000 cash; Witson
told Norman that the mari huana was in a vehicle parked across the
street at another restaurant.

Sibila delivered the bust signal, Watson was arrested at the
pi ckup truck, and Brown was arrested after attenpting to flee
t hrough the restaurant. WAtson was carrying a 38-caliber handgun
and $1,400 in cash. H Il was carrying approxi mately $940, and a 9-

mllinmeter, sem -automati c handgun was found on the passenger side



of the truck where H Il had been sitting.

.
Wat son argues that the prosecutor's explanations for his
perenptory chall enges were a pretense to exclude venirenen on the

basis of their race in violation of Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U S. 79

(1986). The Equal Protection Clause prohibits a prosecutor from
chal  enging potential jurors solely on the basis of their race or
on the premse that black jurors would be incapable of being

inpartial to black defendants. United States v. Mreno, 878 F.2d

817, 820 (5th Gr.) (quoting Batson, 476 U. S. at 89), cert. denied,

493 U.S. 979 (1989).
The district court's decision that a prosecutor had a race-
neutral reason for striking a nmenber of the venireis acredibility

determnation viewed with deference. United States v. De La Rosa,

911 F.2d 985, 991 (5th G r. 1990), cert. denied, 111 S. C. 2275

(1991). It isreviewed for clear error. United States v. C enpbns,

941 F.2d 321, 325 (5th Gr. 1991).

There is a three-step process for evaluating a Batson

obj ection. The defendant nust nake a prim facie show ng that the
prosecutor struck a potential juror on the basis of race; the
burden then shifts to the prosecutor to denonstrate a race-neutral
reason for the challenge; and finally, the district court nust
deci de whether the defendant carried his burden of proving
pur poseful discrimnation. d enpbns, 941 F.2d at 324. Neverthe-

| ess, step one in the analysis may be omtted if the district court



requi red expl anation for the perenptory strikes. See United States

v. Broussard, 987 F.2d 215, 220 n.4 (5th Cr. 1993).

The district court required the prosecutor to explain the
reasons for the use of perenptory strikes against three black
veni r enen. The prosecutor stated the follow ng reasons for the
strikes:

Wth respect to juror nunber two, that juror did not
appear to be interested. Anobng other things, according
to ny cocounsel, he was playing sone type of electronic
gane during the seating of the panel while nobody was
her e. He did not appear to be interested in what was
goi ng on.

| saw him constantly funbling with his shirt. He
was fidgeting. He didn't appear to be attentive as to
what was goi ng on.

* * * %

Juror nunber seventeen, your honor, during the voir
dire appeared to be sleeping. He also did not appear to
be attentive . . . . It is the opinion of the counse
for the governnent, according to his jury sheet, that he
had been unenpl oyed for sone tine. This gave ne sone
concern about whether or not he could be fair and
inpartial to the governnent.

* * * %

Wth respect to . . . juror twenty-two . . . . W
| ooked at him we could not nake any determnation )) it
didn't appear that he was attentive, that he was |isten-
ing to what was going on. W |ooked at him He gave us
a rather blank stare.

The prosecutor added:

| mght also state for the record, your honor, that
the prosecutor is black in this particular case[,] and
there is no issue of race that's involved, if that's the
question that's being asked of ne. The perenptory
strikes were made for sound reasons for ny picking a
jury, and it had nothing at all to do wth anybody's
race.

The district court then overruled the defendants' notion to quash

6



t he panel.

This court has refused to set out a specific procedure to be
followed in evaluating Batson objections. d enpbns, 941 F.2d at
323. Arace-neutral reason is determ ned by the "facial validity"
of the attorney's explanation of how the chal |l enge was based upon
factors other than race.

Enpl oynent status and attentiveness are valid, race-neutral

grounds for perenptory strikes. See United States v. Pofahl, 990

F.2d 1456, 1465-66 (5th Cr. 1993) (jurors struck because of |ack
of attentiveness and prosecutor's preference for a jury conprised
of m ddl e-class jurors who work ei ght hours a day or are sal ari ed),

petition for cert. filed (U S. Aug. 4, 1993) (No. 93-5526).

Factors arising from "intuitive assunptions," eye contact, or
deneanor are valid bases for a perenptory challenge. Mreno, 878

F.2d at 821 (quoting United States v. Terrazas-Carrasco, 861 F.2d

93, 95 (5th Gr. 1988)). The juror's physical appearance is also
a legitimte basis for a perenptory strike. denons, 941 F. 2d at
324- 25.

Atrial court's findings are clearly erroneous when evi dence
exists to support them but the appellate court, after review ng
the entire record, is left with " the definite and firmconviction

that a m stake has been comm tt ed. Anderson v. City of Bessener

Gty, 470 U.S. 564, 573-74 (1985) (citation omtted). This court
may not reverse even though convinced that had it been sitting as
the trier of fact it would have wei ghed the evidence differently.

The district court was in the best position to judge the



deneanor of the prosecutor as he nmade this argunent and to observe

the prospective jurors during the voir dire. See United States v.

Vall ey, 928 F.2d 130, 136 (5th Gr. 1991). Deneanor evidence is
particularly within the province of the district court when sitting
as trier of fact, and the defendant has not shown that the district

court's decision was clearly erroneous.

L1,
Brown argues that the district court abused its discretion by
di sm ssing juror four, Mchael Wayne Koons, and replacing himw th
the first alternate juror prior to the comencenent of deli bera-
tions. The district court's decision to discharge a juror is
reviewed for abuse of discretion and will result in reversal only
if the defendant has denonstrated that he was prejudiced by the

dismssal of the juror. United States v. Ramrez, 963 F.2d 693,

703 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 113 S. C. 388 (1992).

The district court becane aware of the possibility of Koons's
ineligibility after Koons's parole officer contacted the court.
The district court later found that Koons was under a pending
felony information and that Koons had not disclosed that inforna-
tion in the jury questionnaire. Alternatively, the court found
that Koons's failure to explain his status and the exi stence of the
charges agai nst hi mwas naterial and that the governnent had relied
upon false information to its detrinent. Koons |later admtted that
he had been charged with the burglary of a building in state court.

Under 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1865(b)(5) (West Supp. 1993), Koons was ineligi-



ble to serve as a juror, so the district court did not abuse its

di scretion by replacing him

| V.

Wat son argues that the district court abused its discretion by
refusing a jury instruction regarding entrapnment. Watson did not
take the stand in his defense. An entrapnent defense requires that
the crimnal design originate with officials or agents of the
governnment and that they inplant in the mnd of an i nnocent person

the disposition to commt the defense. United States v. Menesses,

962 F.2d 420, 429 (5th Gr. 1992). "[T] he nere assertion of
entrapnent does not require the trial judge to automatically
instruct the jury on it." Id. "I'f the defendant fails to
denonstrate the existence of even a scintilla of evidence that
gover nnment agents entrapped himinto commtting a crine that he was
not ot herw se predi sposed to commt, then he has failed to make the
required prima facie showing and is therefore not entitled to such
a jury instruction."™ Id.

Wat son argues that he was entrapped because he did not take
part in any of the initial discussions regarding the cocai ne deal
and because the governnent "surprise flashed" twenty kil ograns of
cocaine. Hi s argunent is unavailing.

Norman testified that Watson clainmed to have noved nultiple
hundr ed- pound quantities of mari huana and stated that his usua
cocai ne connection had been "taken down." The evidence suggests

not that Watson was an unwary innocent but instead that he was an



unwary crim nal who was successfully trapped. See Menesses, id. at

420 (citing Sherman v. United States, 356 U S. 369 (1958)).

V.

Wat son argues that the district court inproperly conmented on
the wei ght of the evidence and i nvaded the province of the jury by
stating that the governnent agents used tactics that were | egal and
proper. The relevant statenment by the district court is as
fol | ows:

[ T] here were sonme argunents during the summations
that were critical of the nethods used by law the |aw
enforcenent officers here in the scenario which forned
the basis of this case.

Now, there's absolutely nothing illegal or inproper
i n governnent agents, drug enforcenent agents, providing
an opportunity for those who would do so to violate the
law . . . [Qur Congress allocates substantial anbunts
of noney for the purpose of agents goi ng out and purchas-
ing drugs in sham transactions, because this is one of
the nmeans that is used to catch people that are invol ved
in the narcotics traffic. There's nothing wong wth
governnent's use of cocaine previously seized as a neans
of inducing those who would to [sic] buy the cocaine or
attenpt to buy the cocaine for the purpose of taking
t hese noni es and these assets out of circulation.

So when this happens, not only is a crimnal
vi ol ator captured, but the resources that woul d have been
utilized to buy cocaine are seized by the governnent.
And so there's absolutely nothing wong with the govern-
ment agents engaging in this type of activity in order to
apprehend those who are or who would violate the |aw
And t hey don't have to play by the Marqui s of Queensberry
rules in this endeavor. They can take roles that are
phony and fake and pretend to be that which they're not
inorder to catch the culprits that they are | ooking for.

Wat son argues that the above statenents i nproperly renoved t he
i ssue of the conduct of the governnent from the consideration of
the jury. After objection by defense counsel, the district court
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expl ai ned his comments:

[ T]he reason | did make the observati ons about the
use of roles in these cases is that there was argunent by
counsel that these defendants should be fairly acquitted
because the governnent used the tactics that it used
here. And it doesn't make a hill of beans what tactics
t he governnent used here so long as they did not commt
entrapnent in the case. And | felt, as a matter of |aw,
they did not. So | was trying to cure that argunent
because certainly you don't acquit a personthat's guilty
of commtting a crine because you get nad at the police-
man.

In his sunmation, WAtson's counsel stated that the case was
"created sonewhere in, | guess, Washington, D.C., or . . . in the
drug enforcenent office, perhaps here in Houston." He also
suggested that the governnent targeted the defendants:

Who do you want to pick? You want to pick sone
bl ack people, you want to pick sone Mexican people, you
want to pick sone kids, who do you want to pick? W'll
pi ck anybody you want to. But he'll tell you that there
are three people 2,000 m | es away who deci de whether this
is a good person to pick or not. | don't care if they
got Dan Quail [sic: Quayle] picking who we use. | don't
care who decides who we pick. That's a terribly danger-
ous tool [seized cocaine] that your governnment is using
on this war on drugs, and it offends ne. It offends ne
because it's open to terrible abuses. They pick the
rules, they set the rules.

Because there was insufficient evidence to support an instruction
on entrapnent, the district court properly instructed the jury that
entrapnent was not in issue.

AFFI RVED.
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